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Our 2024 Annual General Meeting marks an 
exciting milestone as we celebrate the 60th 
Anniversary of Kindred Credit Union. Since 1964, 
we have remained steadfast in our purpose and 
values. This has shone through time and again this 
year, as we walked alongside our members through 
challenging and uncertain economic times.

The past year brought unexpected news for 
Kindred, the departure of Ian Thomas as our CEO. 
Stepping in as Interim CEO, it has been gratifying 
to help Kindred adapt to this transition, and, just 
as we have in the past, respond to marketplace 
and other changes while staying true to our shared 
purpose and values.

This adaptability has resulted in some great 
successes to share with you. At Kindred, we 
continue to increase our digital capabilities, such 
as the addition of our online appointment booking 
system, two-factor authentication, password 
reset, e-transfer scheduling, and VOID cheque 
downloading. We launched our First Home Savings 
Account, and took our unique Church Builder GIC 
and reimagined it as the Community Builder GIC, 
expanding its reach and impact for congregations 
and charities across Ontario. We proactively 
connected with over 270 members with residential 
mortgages renewing who we knew might struggle 
with the current interest rate environment to work 
with them to find the right solution.

This past year was a more challenging one for 
many credit unions across the country. However, 
I can say with confidence that Kindred remains in 
strong financial shape. This is due in no small part 
to the dedication of our Board of Directors and 
team members, and, most importantly, the support 
of our members. We added 2,390 new members in 
2023, bringing our total membership to 28,312. As 
our digital capabilities grow, allowing us to reach 
more values-centred Ontarians, we expect this 
number to continue to increase. 

At the end of 2023, Kindred’s net assets grew to 
$2.08 billion. In addition, our core earnings reached 
$10.56 million as of December 31. We grew our 
total Assets Under Management to more than 
$2.38 billion and our Return on Average Assets 

(ROAA) was .80% – a key indicator of how efficiently 
Kindred is using our assets to grow and reinvest 
into our credit union and communities. As a result, 
we were able to share $1.49 million in profit shares 
with our owner-members. These results underscore 
our financial sustainability and allow Kindred to 
continue to be there for our members today, and 
in the future.

Our financial health has allowed us to continue to 
support charities and community organizations 
with competitive terms and loans. It has also 
enabled us to continue to support members 
and our communities, in partnership with our 
members, through our Crisis Care GIC and Loan, 
the Affordable Housing GIC and Loan, and our 
Community Inspiration GIC.

In February, Kindred team members participated 
in the Coldest Night of the Year, raising much-
needed funds for local organizations serving those 
experiencing hurt, hunger, and homelessness. 
Kindred also contributed to House of Friendship’s 
“Adopt-a-Room”, which addresses both the 
housing and healthcare needs of men experiencing 
homelessness in Waterloo Region. Near the end of 
the year, Kindred’s first-ever fall food drive resulted 
in $63,000 being directed to several charities 
working toward community food security.

This past year proved to be another successful year 
for Kindred. We look forward to continuing to serve 
our members and helping them make peace with 
their money, as together we further our purpose 
to connect values and faith with finances, inspiring 
peaceful, just, and prosperous communities. Thank 
you to all our team members and to our members 
who continue to put their trust in us.

With appreciation,

John Klassen

Interim CEO
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The activity, business, and community at Kindred 
Credit Union continues to be dynamic, thriving, 
and exciting.  This has made my six years as Chair 
of the Board of Directors challenging, fulfilling, and 
inspiring.

As during our first 60 years, member commitment 
and growth continues to be strong.

Membership growth has exceeded 4% each year 
since 2017, with Kindred now a 28,000-member 
strong cooperative.

Openness for all members who share our 
purpose and values was prioritized with a 
working group reinforcing that these are the 
core of Kindred while affirming our faith roots. 

Investment Shares of almost $70 million were 
issued from the Offerings in 2019 and 2022, 
aiding in a share capital increase to almost $100 
million.

Loans to members have reached an all-time 
high of $1.9 billion (from $1 billion at December 
2017), thanks in part to strong increases in 
capital. 

Kindred’s capabilities have grown as we strive to 
meet our members’ needs with best practices.  

Online banking platforms have been enhanced. 

Marketplace assessments have been conducted 
to ensure compliance and good governance 
in the areas of compensation (including Living 
Wage), people leadership, and Director 
recruitment.  

Policies have been developed and refined 
around our SRI screens, whistleblower, and EDI, 
while we keep focused on the need for AI policy 
and oversight. 

All parts of our organization have worked 
together to ensure the efficiency, growth, and 
stability of capital, putting Kindred among the 
best in class of our 57 credit union peers in 
Ontario.

Kindred has continued its commitment to the 
financial sector in Ontario and Canada with 
appointments to advisory groups and Boards.  
This work has been with our Regulator (FSRA), our 
online banking, treasury, and payment services 
provider (Central1), the Global Alliance for Banking 
on Values (GABV), as well as various credit union 
groups.

As always, giving to our communities continues 
to be an important part of how Kindred lives 
its purpose. In 2023, the Kindred Charitable 
Fund approved a total of $100,000 in grants to 
19 organizations. Each of these organizations 
actively inspires peaceful, just, and prosperous 
communities through Community Food Security, 
Financial Empowerment, or Safe and Affordable 
Housing. Including the 2023 recipients, the Kindred 
Charitable Fund has distributed over $1.47 million 
in support of 190 congregations and charities 
since its inception in 1999. These organizations 
have used the grants to support 379 projects that 
positively impact people and communities across 
Ontario.

We also stepped up in support of affordable 
housing, with a $250,000 contribution over three 
years (2021 to 2023) to an affordable housing  
project partnership between Beyond Housing, 
Parents for Community Living, and St. Paul’s 
Lutheran Church; and again in 2022 with a $125,000 
contribution to Parkwood Seniors Community’s 
Independent Living Affordable Housing Project

The perspectives, commitment, and dedication, 
in all areas of Kindred Credit Union and our 
communities, are a privilege to be part of and 
support. I look forward to continued service on the 
Board of Directors and membership at the credit 
union.

Cooperatively yours,

 
Susan Taves

Chair, Board of Directors
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Year ended December 31, 2023 with comparative figures for 2022. 
Detailed audited financial statements are found on page 21.

Thousands of dollars

December  
31, 2023

December  
31, 2022

 Assets

Cash resources $ 32,892 $ 29,987

Investments 153,074 208,239

Loans to members  1,866,275  1,712,897 

Property and equipment 17,399 14,327

Other assets 9,241 8,326

Total Assets $  2,078,881 $  1,973,776 

 Liabilities and Members' Equity

Total deposits of members $ 1,780,088 $ 1,706,200

Mortgage securitization liabilities 76,889 60,391

Lease liability 13,667 10,415

Other liabilities 10,841 14,353

Member Shares 621 593

Profit Shares 21,832 20,787

Investment Shares 99,496 94,375

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (298) (1,705)

Retained earnings 75,745  68,367

Total Liabilities and Members‘ Equity $  2,078,881 $  1,973,776
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Thousands of dollars

December  
31, 2023

December  
31, 2022

Income from interest and investments $ 89,987 $ 64,837

Other revenue 8,396 8,039

Total Income $ 98,383 $ 72,876

Less:

Interest expense on member deposits $ 42,395 $ 23,171

Profit Shares (patronage return)  1,490  1,460 

Loss (gain) on derivative financial instruments 642 339

Up front loss on sale of loans – 637

Mortgage securitization cost of funds 1,957 1,188

Interest on external borrowings 65 112

Personnel expense 22,762 21,022

Occupancy expense 1,025 1,075

Lease finance cost 376 222

Administration expense 8,472 7,657

Amortization of property and equipment 2,178 2,207

Insurance expense 1,597 1,665

Provision for loan losses (gains) (46) 746

Charitable giving 650  575 

Income tax provision 1,708 1,645

Net earnings $ 13,112 $ 9,155

Other comprehensive income (loss) net of tax $ 1,348 $ 229

Comprehensive income $ 14,460 $ 9,384

Year ended December 31, 2023 with comparative figures for 2022. 
Detailed audited financial statements are found on page 21.
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December 
31, 2023

December 
31, 2022

Earnings from core operations $ 10,556 $  9,683 

Profit Shares (patronage return)  (1,490)  (1,460)

Adjustment for Investment Shares dividend expense1 $ 5,674 3,545

Net earnings after above 14,740 11,768

Unrealized fair market value gain (loss) $ 80 $ (312)

HQLA related adjustment – (656)

Earnings from operations before tax 14,820 10,800

Income tax (provision) recovery $ (1,708) $ (1,645) 

Net earnings (losses) from operations 13,112 9,155

Other comprehensive income (loss) net of tax $ 1,348 229

Comprehensive income $ 14,460 $ 9,384

Thousands of dollars

1Core earnings include Investment Shares dividend expense while excluding the impact of unrealized fair market value adjustments, taxes, 
Profit Shares (patronage return), and extraordinary items.
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This report refers to the financial summaries and 
graphs found on page 4 through 6 for the fiscal 
year ended December 31, 2023 and highlights 
the growth in some fundamental areas, 
solid earnings, and continued organizational 
development. The Audited Financial 
Statements, complete with the auditor’s opinion 
and all of the associated note disclosures are 
also included beginning on page 21.

While there was continued uncertainty from an 
economic and interest rate perspective, 2023 
proved to be another successful year for our 
credit union. We continued to make steady 
progress on financial objectives and achieved 
the key financial milestones for the year. We once 
again saw growth in areas of loans, deposits, 
and memberships as existing and new members 
continued to deepen their relationship with 
Kindred.

As shown on page 4, we saw overall asset growth 
of 5.3%, bringing our year-end assets to $2.08 
billion dollars. Overall loan growth was strong at 
$153.3 million or about 8.9% and very close to 
plan. Deposit growth came in at $65 million or 
about 3.8%. From an asset growth standpoint, 
5.3% is lower than our long-term average which 
is closer to 7%; this is mainly due to somewhat 
lower deposit growth that was augmented by a 
draw-down of excess liquidity investments.

You can see on our Earnings Summary on page 
5, Kindred had overall comprehensive income 
of $14.5 million.

From a core earnings perspective, on page 
6 you can see that we ended the year with 
core earnings of $10.5 million. This earnings 
increase is consistent with overall asset growth 
and a net financial margin that was generally 
supported by rising interest rates. This core 
earnings figure most accurately represents the 
operational earnings picture for the credit union. 
Kindred uses this figure for management and 
comparative purposes as we review previous 
years, conduct peer group comparisons, and 
develop future projections.

This level of earnings allowed us to share with 
members a total of $1.49 million of our 2023 

profits through our Profit Shares program. This 
distribution to members in the form of Profit 
Shares adds to the capital base of the credit 
union. 

The next item is an adjustment to add-back the 
6% return paid on Investment Shares for 2023 – 
an expense that is included in our core earnings 
calculation.  Net earnings after this adjustment 
were $14.7 million, as shown on page 6.

The next adjustment to 2023 earnings was an 
increase of $80 thousand due to fair market 
value adjustments. This represents the change 
in market value of a series of interest rate swap 
contracts that Kindred is engaged in, which 
help mitigate the risk to declines in earnings 
associated with changes in market interest rates.

After accounting for these shifts, we arrive at net 
earnings of $14.8 million.  We then paid tax of 
$1.7 million and accounted for a positive other 
comprehensive income amount of $1.3 million 
related to the adjustment mentioned above 
and fair market value changes in our investment 
portfolio to bring us to the overall after-tax 
comprehensive earnings of $14.5 million noted 
earlier. This is the earnings figure that appears in 
the audited financial statements. This 2023 level 
of earnings has allowed us to maintain capital 
levels well above regulatory and internally set 
minimums.

With respect to profitability, 2023 core earnings 
represent a return on average assets of about 
80 basis points – this is up from 70 basis points 
in 2022 and represents the continuation of an 
encouraging upward trend as we continue to 
ensure Kindred’s sustainability in a time of an 
uncertain interest rate environment and general 
economic outlook.

In summary, 2023 was a very positive year with 
respect to sustainable growth levels and other 
key business drivers, in addition to a solid, 
increasing level of earnings that positions 
us well to face the challenges and meet the 
opportunities of 2024 and beyond.

HIGHLIGHTS FROM OUR FINANCIALS



Fostering the Real Economy :  
Enhancing our Relationships 
The Global Alliance for Banking on Values (GABV) is 
a group of more than 70 financial institutions from 
around the world working together to redefine banking 
by prioritizing social, environmental, and economic 
sustainability.

Our membership in GABV provides a window into the 
crucial conversations and innovative ideas taking root in 
visionary financial institutions around the world. We’re 
a small player on the global scale, yet our commitment 
to values-centred, faith-inspired banking propels us to 
speak loudly and to act locally. 

GABV uses the term ‘real economy’ as a principle to 
help ground us in community and focus our service on 
members’ direct needs. This contrasts with the layered 
financial economy, where an investment or loan may 
pass through several institutions before eventually 
being used by a business in service to a community. 
While some of these layers are important at a macro 
level to our economy, focusing on closer connections 
reinforces real relationships. 

At Kindred, we’re committed to being good stewards 
of our members’ resources. This includes financial 
assets as well as human connections, local knowledge, 
digital infrastructure, and physical spaces. As we build 
the technologies and systems that improve the speed 
and efficiency of our services, we’re working to enhance 
the relationships with our members and community 
partners so that we become better equipped to live 
out our purpose. We’re connecting values and faith 
with finances in a real economy of real relationships, 
inspiring peaceful, just, and prosperous 
communities.
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Liabilities/Equity   

Financial Economy  
(reserves, net income, taxes, leases, off-book 
mutual funds)

 $195,886 9.4%  $303,037  $160,945 8.2%  $275,157

Real Economy  
(savings/combinations, deposits, shares)

 $1,882,995 90.6%   $1,812,831 91.8%  

Total Liabilities/Equity $2,078,881 $303,037 $1,973,776  $275,157

This view of Kindred’s financial activities is intended only to show trends from financial to real, highlighting how we’re working to increase the amount of 
business that supports our members and communities directly. 
1‘On-book’ assets are deposits placed with Kindred, such as chequing accounts and GICs.
2‘Off-book’ assets are investments with a third party, such as Credential Asset Management mutual funds.

The real economy relates to economic activities that generate goods and services as opposed to 
the financial economy that is concerned exclusively with activities in the financial markets. GABV 
defines financial economy as more than one layer away from a real activity.

December 31, 2023 
Thousands of dollars

December 31, 2022 
Thousands of dollars

Assets On-book1 % of total Off-book2 On-book1 % of total Off-book2

Financial Economy  
(Cash, impact investments, accruals, taxes, 
leases)

 $209,608 10.1%   $257,829 13.1%  

Real Economy  
(Loans to members, receivables)

 $1,869,273 89.9%  $48,398  $1,715,947 86.9%  $72,328

Total Assets  $2,078,881  $48,398  $1,973,776  $72,328
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1.  VOLUNTARY AND OPEN 		
MEMBERSHIP
Cooperatives are voluntary organizations, 
open to all persons able to use their services 
and willing to accept the responsibilities of 
membership, without gender, social, racial, 
political or religious discrimination.

2.  DEMOCRATIC MEMBER CONTROL
Cooperatives are democratic organizations 
controlled by their members, who actively 
participate in setting their policies and 
making decisions. Those serving as elected 
representatives are accountable to the 
membership. In primary cooperatives, 
members have equal voting rights (one 
member, one vote) and cooperatives 
at other levels are also organised in  
a democratic manner.

3.  MEMBER ECONOMIC 
PARTICIPATION
Members contribute equitably to, and 
democratically control, the capital of their 
cooperative. At least part of that capital 
is usually the common property of the 
cooperative. Members usually receive 
limited compensation, if any, on capital 
subscribed as a condition of membership. 
Members allocate surpluses for any or all 
of the following purposes: developing their 
cooperative, possibly by setting up reserves, 
part of which at least would be indivisible; 
benefiting members in proportion to their 
transactions with the cooperative; and 
supporting other activities approved by the 
membership.

Kindred is a financial cooperative!



Source: International Cooperative Alliance
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4.  AUTONOMY AND 
INDEPENDENCE
Cooperatives are autonomous, self-help 
organizations controlled by their members. 
If they enter into agreements with other 
organizations, including governments, or 
raise capital from external sources, they 
do so on terms that ensure democratic 
control by their members and maintain their 
cooperative autonomy.

5.  EDUCATION, TRAINING,  
AND INFORMATION
Cooperatives provide education and training 
for their members, elected representatives, 
managers, and employees so they can  
contribute effectively to the development of 
their cooperatives. They inform the general 
public — particularly young people and 
opinion leaders — about the nature and 
benefits of cooperation.

6.  COOPERATION AMONG 
COOPERATIVES
Cooperatives serve their members most 
effectively and strengthen the cooperative 
movement by working together through 
local, national, regional, and international 
structures.

7.  CONCERN FOR COMMUNITY
Cooperatives work for the sustainable 
development of their communities  
through policies approved by their 
members.

As a credit union, we share the seven cooperative 
principles that have been in practice for more 
than one hundred years.



“For six decades, we’ve been blessed to have thousands of 
Ontarians choose to bank with us, entrust us with their money, and 
select us to help steward their personal and business finances,“ 
said John Klassen, Kindred’s Interim CEO. 

Like a beautiful patchwork quilt of many unique pieces, our members from various walks of life, 
from different communities across Ontario, have joined together around our shared values of 
integrity, compassion, and stewardship to make Kindred cooperative banking that connects 
values and faith with finances, inspiring peaceful, just, and prosperous communities.

A lot has changed since we launched on March 21, 1964, yet who we are has remained woven 
into the fabric of our credit union. With variations of how we’ve expressed ourselves throughout 
the years, we have adapted and we continue to adapt, with our foundation remaining strong. 

We’re planning a number of exciting ways to commemorate our milestone with our members 
and teammates throughout 2024. We hope you will join us as we celebrate the past 60 years of 
banking with purpose and look forward to continuing to help you Make Peace with Your Money 
for years to come.
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What does it mean to Make Peace with Your Money?
Make Peace with Your Money is about peace of mind
It’s the contentment that comes with being a good steward of the money, time, and other 
resources that have been entrusted to you. It’s the comfort that comes from having a plan for 
how you give, live, and grow your money. 

It’s also the confidence of knowing that your money is entrusted with a financial cooperative that 
shares your values and supports the common economic and social needs of its members. It’s 
the harmony you feel when you connect your values and faith with finances and the satisfaction 
of knowing that through cooperative banking, you are helping to inspire peaceful, just, and 
prosperous communities.

Make Peace with Your Money is about the impact you make with your money
As a financial cooperative, it’s our shared purpose and values as well as our heritage that make 
us who we are. They shape what we do and how we go about doing that together – through 
mutual aid, economic justice, and selfless service in our day-to-day financial lives, we make 
peace with our money.

Our founders’ radical vision was to see mutual aid put into faithful practice – individuals or 
groups bearing one another’s burdens, helping each other out in times of need and in times of 
plenty. As a financial cooperative, this is the basis of how we operate: one member’s deposit is 
another member’s loan – the dollars our members invest with us are reinvested into loans for 
individuals and small businesses in our communities, contributing to the financial health and 
peace of our communities. 

Since our earliest days, Kindred has also fostered mutual aid and economic justice by providing 
more ways for members to support each other and our communities. 

Our Affordable Housing GIC and Loan, Community Inspiration GIC, and Crisis Care GIC and 
Loan are mutual aid products that facilitate members supporting others in community and 
promote sharing and acts of compassion – an essential part of inspiring peace.

Economic justice is additionally furthered through our socially responsible investment options. 
All of Kindred’s GICs are socially responsible and our mutual fund options through our partner 
Aviso Wealth include a wide range of socially responsible mutual funds. Investing responsibly 
can help build a more economically, socially, and environmentally sustainable and peaceful 
world.

Through selfless service, giving of our time and resources, we are deeply invested in our 
communities. Our community engagement and philanthropy builds relationships and impacts 
community organizations through sponsorships, Kindred Charitable Fund grants, volunteering, 
and gifts-in-kind. As our communities benefit from this support, and our teammates and 
members are inspired to live out their values alongside us, together we make peace in practical 
ways – doing what we can to make sure everyone has enough food to eat and a safe place to call  
home, and that there is mutual wellbeing. 

We’re grateful to our faithful members and community partners who help bring our purpose to 
life every day in the communities we’re so fortunate to serve. It’s our privilege and pleasure to 
serve you and help you Make Peace with Your Money.
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In 2023, we focused our 
community support on  
three themes: 

Financial Empowerment, 
Community Food Security, 
and Safe and Affordable 
Housing. Kindred contributed 
and connected to each theme 
in inspiring ways through 
community organizations while 
working directly to provide 
programs and services. 

Our purpose – cooperative 
banking that connects values 
and faith with finances, inspiring 
peaceful, just, and prosperous 
communities – means that 
we live our values everyday 
through the work we do in the 
communities we serve. 

Hope House’s Community Volunteer 
Income Tax Program 

For Canadians living in or near poverty, this can be 
overwhelming. How do you improve your financial health 
when you are struggling to get by? Hope House, a  
Kindred Charitable Fund recipient, serves those affected 
by poverty by helping them get caught up on their taxes.

Hope House offers a free income tax program through the 
Canada Revenue Agency’s Community Volunteer Income 
Tax Program (CVITP). The program is run by registered 
tax clinic volunteers who support community members in 
getting their taxes done, whether it’s just for the past year, 
or several years.

The CVITP provides training for the volunteers, who 
are often, but not always, folks who work in the income  
tax field. The income tax volunteers can even help 
community members who have misplaced needed slips 
and receipts. And by submitting a tax return, community 
members gain access to a whole host of services that can 
make their lives easier.

Hope House serves vulnerable people in Guelph: the 
unhoused and housed, the employed and the unemployed, 
those suffering a new, bewildering setback and those 
dealing with chronic, more complicated issues of poverty. 
Hope House operates and advocates on the belief that 
poverty, food insecurity, inequality, health, and community 
are all interconnected. They offer services and programs 
that challenge the stigmas surrounding poverty and  
allow their community members to maintain their dignity 
and choice.

The CVITP at Hope House completes over 1,000 tax 
returns each year for their community members. Kindred’s 
Community Inspiration Framework compels us to 
empower others in their financial lives to better navigate 
the complexities of our Canadian financial system. We are 
pleased to support a program that is aimed at improving 
the lives of those living in or near poverty!

FINANCIAL EMPOWERMENT

See Kindred’s Community 
Inspiration come to life! 

SCAN TO WATCH



Kindred and Local Communities Help 
Raise $63,000 for Food Security!

Kindred teammates, members, and community came 
together in the month of November to donate a total of 
$63,000 to community food security! This recent journey in 
addressing food security concerns began when The Food 
Bank of Waterloo Region hosted a team of 24 enthusiastic 
staff members at their distribution centre as part of their 
Engagement program.

The Food Bank acquires and distributes fresh, frozen, 
and non-perishable food to the Community Food 
Assistance Network, a system of more than 120 agencies 
and community programs that work together to provide 
food, support, and services to people experiencing food 
insecurity in Waterloo region. The Food Bank’s goal is to 
reduce hunger in our region and identify proactive solutions 
to address poverty and food insecurity.

Food security is recognized as a pressing issue that is 
increasing in severity across our communities. Through 
our community engagement work, we learned that food 
banks are seeing sustained increases in demand for their 
programs and resources at record breaking levels.

Recognizing the need and importance of food security in 
our local communities, Kindred participated in two sorting 
and packaging events at The Food Bank on November 
14 and 29, 2023. In total, between the two visits, Kindred 
teammates sorted and packed a total combined weight 
of 7,827 pounds which equals 6,113 meals for people at a 
time when food security is most necessary.

Helping to sort and package non-perishables only 
addresses a small aspect of food security. As such, Kindred 
teammates, members, and community continued to help 
bring our purpose to life in the communities we’re so 
fortunate to serve. All eight of Kindred’s branches and our 
head office participated in the first Kindred-wide food drive 
by collecting financial donations and non-perishables.

SleepingOUT to Alleviate Youth 
Homelessness

We’ve all heard about the affordable housing crisis in our 
communities. In every corner of Ontario, the cost of rent has 
skyrocketed, and the town of Leamington is no exception. 
Leamington’s Bridge Youth Resource Centre (The Bridge) 
notes almost half of all renters spend 30% of their income or 
more on rent, and households in the bottom third of renter 
income distribution are priced out of the rental market.

The Bridge serves young people between the ages of 14 
and 24 years of age, providing assistance with housing, 
food security, schooling, and employment. What originally 
started as a small program in a church, has now expanded 
to include transitional, supportive housing. 

SleepingOUT is an annual fundraising event held by The 
Bridge, and last year took place on October 2. Participants 
and teams were challenged to sleep outside for one 
night with only a sleeping bag and some cardboard. Each 
participant and team raised critical funds to keep the 
lights on and the doors open at The Bridge, so they could 
continue to provide services to underhoused or homeless 
youth in the Leamington area.

Affordable housing is important to us; as one of Kindred’s 
Community Inspiration Framework themes, we’re focused 
on safe and affordable housing, especially the affordability of 
housing for first-time homebuyers, those on fixed incomes, 
or supporting those accessing emergency shelters, or 
transitional housing which is critical to all our communities. 
We provide opportunities for safe and affordable housing 
by working with our community partners to find solutions 
that provide homes for those who need it the most.

FOOD SECURITY  SAFE AND AFFORDABLE HOUSING
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2023 COUNCIL OF MEMBERS BY BRANCH

Milverton 
Connie Jantzi,  

Sandra Kuepfer

Aylmer  
John Stoltzfus, 
(one vacancy)

Mount Forest 
Miles Wiederkehr (Vice-

Chair), (one vacancy)

Elmira 
Dennis Frey,
Erla Bauman 

New Hamburg 
Dawna Whitehead, 

Norman Size

Kitchener  
Brent Charette, 

Dan Driedger (Chair)

Waterloo 
Kevin Dwarte, 
(one vacancy)

Leamington  
(two vacancies)

The Council of Members (Council), is a committee of member volunteers with representation from all 
eight Kindred branches. Each year the Council seeks volunteers for governance roles on the Board 
of Directors (Board). This approach to discerning qualified candidates has resulted in diverse and  
competent boards for Kindred that have served the membership well and been excellent guardians  
of our values.

Appointments to the Board are for three-year terms and require a ratification vote with a two-thirds  
majority at the Annual General Meeting. We are currently seeking candidates to fill vacancies on our 
Council of Members.  If you are interested in serving on either the Council or the Board, please  
speak with your Branch Manager, one of the representatives for your branch, or email Tithi Thakkar, 
Corporate Secretary, at corporate.secretary@kindredcu.com for more information.

OUTGOING COUNCIL AND BOARD
On behalf of Kindred’s Board of Directors, the Council of Members, and members, thanks to our 
representatives on the council: Alfred Hecht (Vice-Chair), Frank Voth, and Vic Winter for their  
important contributions over the past number of years.

Thanks to all Board and Council representatives for their valuable and ongoing contributions to the 
governance of our credit union.
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Wanda Wagler-Martin 
Finance and Loan 

Committee

Rosemary McCrie 
Audit and Risk  

Committee Chair

Stephen Funk 
Finance and Loan  

Committee

James Schenk 
Audit and Risk 

Committee

Tim Wagler 
Governance  
Committee

Kaylie Tiessen 
Finance and Loan 

Committee

Henry Paetkau 
Board Vice-Chair, 

Governance Committee

Rick Martin 
Audit and Risk 

Committee

Carolyn Albrecht  
Governance  
Committee

Gerry Frey  
Finance and Loan 
Committee Chair
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Susan Taves  
Board Chair, Governance 

Committee Chair

2023 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Photos of the Board of Directors were taken by Hannah Marie of KW Headshots, a member 
at our Waterloo branch. You can learn more and book your professional headshot today  
by visiting kwheadshots.ca.



The accompanying financial statements of Kindred Credit Union Limited are the responsibility of 
Management and have been approved by the Board of Directors.

The financial statements have been prepared by Management in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. When required, Management has used reasonable and informed judgments and 
estimates in order to ensure that the financial statements are presented fairly and accurately in all 
material respects.

To meet its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, Management has 
designed and maintains accounting processes and systems of internal controls to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the accuracy of financial records and to establish reliable data for the preparation 
of financial statements, and the necessary safeguarding of Credit Union assets.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that Management fulfills its responsibilities for 
financial reporting and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the financial statements. 
The Board carries out this responsibility through its regular review of financial results and operations, 
and through the Board-appointed Audit and Risk Committee. The Audit and Risk Committee has the 
responsibility of meeting with management and external auditors to discuss internal controls over the 
financial reporting process, matters arising from periodic audits, and other financial reporting issues. 
The Audit and Risk Committee regularly reports its findings to the Board for consideration.

The financial statements have been audited on behalf of the membership by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has full and free access to the Audit and Risk Committee. The Auditor’s 
Report outlines the nature of their audit and expresses their opinion on the financial statements of the 
Credit Union.

John Klassen cpa, cma					     Nancy Mason cpa, cga 
Interim, Chief Executive Officer					     Interim, Chief Financial Officer
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY  
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING



The Audit and Risk Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities. 
It does this by reviewing the financial information and reporting processes, including the risks and 
controls related to those processes which management and the Board have established. The committee 
is comprised of three directors and has a mandate that includes all of the duties specified for an 
audit committee in the Credit Union and Caisses Populaires Act, 2020 (The Act) and the associated 
regulations. 

The Audit and Risk Committee met four times during 2023 to complete its responsibilities. Key activities 
included: 

Reviewing the financial statements and results of the year-end audit with the external auditor; 

Reviewing the performance of the external auditor and their proposed engagement letter;

Reviewing the credit union’s policies, procedures, and controls for legislative compliance;

Reviewing the disaster recovery and business continuity plans;

Monitoring the adherence of Directors, Officers, and employees with the credit union’s policies 
and code of conduct;

Reviewing management’s identification of the credit union’s significant risks and ensuring  
that enterprise risk management processes are in place to measure, monitor, manage, and 
mitigate them;

Approving the annual internal audit plan and reviewing internal audit activities;

Completing a self-assessment on the effectiveness of the Committee and taking the necessary 
steps to ensure effectiveness.

Based on its findings, the Audit and Risk Committee provides reports and makes recommendations to 
the Board of Directors or senior management, as appropriate. These recommendations are reviewed 
to ensure they are considered and appropriate action taken.

The Audit and Risk Committee is pleased to report to the members of Kindred Credit Union that, 
pursuant to The Act and its regulations, it continues to meet the requirements of its mandate. The 
committee receives full cooperation and support from management, thus enabling it to play an effective 
role in improving the quality of financial reporting to its members, and enhancing the overall control 
environment at Kindred.

In addition, there are no other matters that the Audit and Risk Committee believes should be reported 
to the members, nor are there any further matters that are required to be disclosed pursuant to The 
Act or its regulations.

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Rosemary McCrie, Audit and Risk Committee Chair

Committee: James Schenk, Rick Martin
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Kindred Credit Union Limited 

Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 



 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
95 King Street South, Suite 201, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, N2J 5A2 
T: +1 519 570 5700, F: +1 519 570 5730, ca_waterloo_main_fax@pwc.com 

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 

Independent auditor’s report 

To the Members of Kindred Credit Union Limited 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial  
position of Kindred Credit Union Limited (the credit union) as at December 31, 2023 and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards. 

What we have audited 
The credit union’s financial statements comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023; 

 the statement of income and comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

 the statement of changes in members’ equity for the year then ended; 

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 the notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other 
explanatory information. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the credit union in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 



 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the credit union’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the credit union or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the credit union’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the credit union’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the credit union’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the credit union to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 



 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Waterloo, Ontario 
March 5, 2024 

jrowan015
Signature



Kindred Credit Union Limited 
Statement of Financial Position  
As at December 31, 2023 

(in thousands of dollars) 

Approved by the Board of Directors

___________________________________ Director ________________________________ Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

2023
$

2022
$

Assets

Cash 32,892 29,987
Investments – liquidity reserve (note 5) 125,133 118,302
Loans to members (note 6) 1,866,275 1,712,897
Investments – other (note 5) 27,941 89,937
Property and equipment (note 7) 17,399 14,327
Deferred income tax asset (note 16) 843 1,281
Prepaid expenses 4,481 4,119
Other receivables 3,917 2,926

Total assets 2,078,881 1,973,776

Liabilities

Deposits of members
Members’ deposits (note 8) 1,761,046 1,696,012
Accrued interest payable 19,042 10,188

1,780,088 1,706,200

Liabilities to non-members
Accounts payable and accrued charges (note 11) 10,414 14,041
Income taxes payable 195 -
Derivative financial liabilities (note 19) 232 312
Lease liabilities (note 10) 13,667 10,415
Mortgage securitization liabilities (note 20) 76,889 60,391

101,397 85,159

Liabilities qualifying as regulatory capital
Profit shares (note 12) 21,832 20,787
Member shares (note 12) 621 593

22,453 21,380

Total liabilities 1,903,938  1,812,739 

Members’ Equity

Investment shares (note 12) 99,496 94,375

Retained earnings 75,745 68,367

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (298) (1,705)

Total members’ equity 174,943 161,037

2,078,881 1,973,776



Kindred Credit Union Limited 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income  
For the year ended December 31, 2023 

(in thousands of dollars) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

2023
$

2022
$

Revenue
Interest income 82,234 61,821
Investment income 7,753 3,016

89,987 64,837

Interest expense
Interest on members’ deposits 42,395 23,171
Patronage refund (note 15) 1,490 1,460
Up front loss on sale of loans - 637
Interest on external borrowings 65 112
Loss on derivative financial instruments (note 19(b)) 642 339
Mortgage securitization cost of funds 1,957 1,188
Lease finance cost 376 222

46,925 27,129

Financial margin 43,062 37,708

Fee revenue 5,985 5,756 

Commission revenue 2,411 2,283 

8,396 8,039

Income before the undernoted 51,458 45,747 

Operating expenses
Personnel (note 14) 22,762 21,022
Administration 8,472 7,657
Occupancy 3,203 3,282
Insurance 1,597 1,665

36,034 33,626

Income before recovery of (provision for) loan losses and 
charitable giving 15,424 12,121 

Recovery of (provision for) loan losses (note 6) 46 (746)

Charitable giving (650) (575)

Income before income taxes 14,820 10,800

Provision for income taxes (note 16) 1,708 1,645

Net income for the year 13,112 9,155

Other comprehensive income – net of taxes 
Net change in unrealized gain on investments (note 5) 1,348 229

Comprehensive income for the year 14,460 9,384 



Kindred Credit Union Limited 
Statement of Changes in Members’ Equity 
For the year ended December 31, 2023 

(in thousands of dollars) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Investment 
shares 

$

Retained 
earnings 

$

Accumulated
other 

comprehensive 
loss 

$
Total 

$

Balance – December 31, 2021 49,964 61,671 (848) 110,787

Net income before the following - 9,155 - 9,155

Other comprehensive income (loss) – net of 
taxes (note 16(c)) - 1,086 (857) 229

Net shares issued (note 12) 44,411 - - 44,411

Dividend on investment shares - (3,545) - (3,545)

Balance – December 31, 2022 94,375 68,367 (1,705) 161,037

Net income before the following - 13,112 - 13,112

Other comprehensive income (loss) – net of 
taxes (note 16(c)) - (60) 1,407 1,347

Net shares issued (note 12) 5,121 - - 5,121

Dividend on investment shares - (5,674) - (5,674)

Balance – December 31, 2023 99,496 75,745 (298) 174,943



Kindred Credit Union Limited 
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended December 31, 2023 

(in thousands of dollars) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

2023
$

2022
$

Cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities
Net income for the year 13,112 9,155
Adjustments for

Interest and investment income (89,987) (64,837)
Interest expense 48,134 27,464
Lease finance cost 376 222
Provision for income taxes 1,708 1,645
Patronage refund 1,490 1,460
(Provision for) recovery of loan losses (46) 746
Amortization of property and equipment (note 7) 2,179 2,199
Net change in unrealized losses on derivative instruments 229 312

Change in non-cash working capital (4,048) 2,623

Changes in member activities – net
Change in loans to members (153,332) (78,807)
Change in members’ deposits 65,034 65,207

Cash flows relating to interest and income taxes
Interest received on loans to members 88,985 65,322
Interest paid on members’ deposits (39,834) (25,740)
Income taxes paid (1,375) (1,708)

(67,375) 5,263

Financing activities
Repayments of lease liabilities (1,081) (975)
Net increase on mortgage securitization 16,499 34,164
Net change in investment shares - 41,388
Redemption of profit shares (note 12) (445) (561)
Net increase in member shares (note 12) 29 28

15,002 74,044

Investing activities
Net redemption (purchase) of investments 56,572 (88,619)
Purchase of property and equipment (note 7) (1,294) (1,284)

55,278 (89,903)

Increase (decrease) in cash during the year 2,905 (10,596)

Cash – Beginning of year 29,987 40,583

Cash – End of year 32,892 29,987



Kindred Credit Union Limited 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 

(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars) 

(1)

1 Reporting entity 

Kindred Credit Union Limited (the Credit Union) is incorporated under the Credit Unions and Caisses 

Populaires Act 1994 (the Act) of Ontario and is a member of Central 1 Credit Union Limited (Central 1). The 

Credit Union was formerly known as Mennonite Savings and Credit Union (Ontario) Limited. The Credit Union 

officially changed its name to become known as Kindred Credit Union Limited on July 4, 2016. The Credit 

Union operates as one operating segment in the loans and deposit taking industry in Ontario. Products and 

services offered to its members include mortgages, personal, commercial and agricultural loans, chequing and 

savings accounts, guaranteed investment certificates (GICs), RRSPs, RRIFs, automated banking machines, 

debit and credit cards and internet banking. The Credit Union head office is located at 1265 Strasburg Rd., 

Kitchener, Ontario. 

2 Basis of presentation 

These financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards 

as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting Standards). 

These financial statements were prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation 

of certain financial assets and derivative financial instruments measured at fair value. 

The financial statements’ values are presented in Canadian dollars ($), which is the functional and presentation 

currency of the Credit Union. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Credit Union’s 

accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements in the 

period in which the assumptions changed. Management believes that the underlying assumptions are 

appropriate and that the Credit Union’s financial statements therefore present its financial position and 

performance fairly. 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could 

differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 

assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are the fair value of financial instruments 

and the member loan loss provisions. These areas are further disclosed in note 4. 

The financial statements have been authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 29, 2024. 



Kindred Credit Union Limited 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 

(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars) 

(2)

3 Material accounting policies 

a) Allowance for impaired loans 

At initial recognition, the Credit Union recognizes allowances for expected credit loss (ECL) on all debt 

instruments measured at amortized cost. ECLs are also recognized for loan commitments and financial 

guarantees. 

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (IFRS 9), outlines a three-stage model for impairment based on changes in 

credit quality since initial recognition as summarized below: 

 A financial instrument that is not credit impaired on initial recognition is classified in Stage 1 and has 

its credit risk continuously monitored by the Credit Union. 

 If a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is 

moved to Stage 2 but is not yet deemed to be credit impaired. 

 If the financial instrument is credit impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to Stage 3. 

 Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of 

lifetime ECLs that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in 

Stages 2 and 3 have their ECL measured based on ECLs on a lifetime basis. 

At each reporting date, the Credit Union assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost are 

credit impaired. 

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the 

financial instrument.  

ECLs are the discounted product of the probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss 

given default (LGD). The PD represents the likelihood of a member defaulting on its financial obligation, 

either over the next 12 months or the remaining lifetime of the financial instrument (depending on the 

stage to which the financial asset belongs). The EAD is based on the amounts the Credit Union expects to 

be owed at the time of default, over the next 12 months or the remaining lifetime of the financial 

instrument. For example, on revolving facilities, the Credit Union considers the amount that is expected to 

be drawn on leading up to default. On term facilities, the Credit Union considers the amount it expects to 

be paid down leading up to default. The LGD represents the Credit Union’s expectation of the extent of a 

loss on a defaulted exposure. The LGD is expressed as a percentage of EAD. 

These inputs are combined to project ECL over either the next 12 months or the entire lifetime of a credit 

exposure and discounted back to present using the instrument’s effective interest rate. 

When determining whether the risk of default on a loan has increased significantly since initial 

recognition, the Credit Union considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and 

available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and 

analysis, based on historical experience and expert credit assessment and including forward-looking 

information.



Kindred Credit Union Limited 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 

(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars) 

(3)

The Credit Union uses the following when determining whether there has been a significant increase in 

credit risk: 

 quantitative criteria: 30 days overdue is classified as Stage 2 and 90 days overdue is designated as 

Stage 3; and 

 qualitative indicators including but not limited to: deteriorating or lack of financial statements, 

adverse management changes, covenant breaches, frequent overdrafts or arrears, debt service 

shortfalls, deterioration of security, cessation of operations, receivership or bankruptcy. 

The Credit Union allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is 

determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced credit judgment. Credit risk 

grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of risk of default. These 

factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. 

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for 

an exposure by comparing: 

i) the remaining lifetime PD as at the reporting date; with 

ii) the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of initial recognition of 

the exposure. 

PD is estimated using a two-step process. The first step considers a historical anchor parameter (the 

12-month PD). This is designed to represent the long-run average default of the borrower. This anchor 

parameter is then adjusted to reflect forecasted future economic conditions. 

Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for exposures. 

The Credit Union collects performance and default information about its credit risk exposures analyzed by 

type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading. 

Loan writeoffs 

The Credit Union writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical 

recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is 

no reasonable expectation of recovery include (i) ceasing enforcement activity and (ii) where the Credit 

Union’s recovery method is foreclosing on collateral and the value of the collateral is such that there is no 

reasonable expectation of recovering in full.  

The Credit Union may write off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The 

outstanding contractual amount of such assets written off during the year ended December 31, 2023 was 

$10,962 (2022 – $11,937). The Credit Union still seeks to recover amounts it is legally owed in full, but 

which have been written off due to no reasonable expectation of full recovery. 

Further information on credit impairment can be found in note 22.



Kindred Credit Union Limited 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 

(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars) 

(4)

b) Fees and commission 

Fee and commission revenue and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial 

asset or financial liability are included in the effective interest rate (see (c) below). Other fee and 

commission revenue from contracts with members or other third parties is measured based on the 

consideration specified in a contract with the counterparty. The Credit Union recognizes revenue as the 

related performance obligation is satisfied, either over time or at a point in time. 

The Credit Union provides retail and corporate banking services to its members, including account 

management, provision of overdraft facilities, foreign currency transactions and credit card and servicing 

fees. Fees for ongoing account management are charged to the customer’s account on a monthly basis. 

Transaction-based fees for foreign currency transactions and overdrafts are charged to the member’s 

account when the transaction takes place. 

Servicing fees for the administration of loans that have been sold to a third party are based on fixed rates 

outlined in the respective contract and are recorded monthly. 

The Credit Union receives commission revenue primarily through its relationship with Aviso Wealth 

resulting from sales of mutual fund and insurance products. Commission income is recognized monthly 

when received. 

c) Financial assets and liabilities 

The Credit Union has applied IFRS 9 and classifies its financial assets in the following measurement 

categories: fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), fair value through other comprehensive income 

(FVOCI) or amortized cost. Management determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial 

recognition. The Credit Union uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when recording 

financial asset transactions. All financial assets and liabilities, including derivative financial instruments, 

are recognized in the statement of financial position and measured in accordance with their assigned 

category. 

The accounting policies related to financial assets and liabilities are as follows: 

Measurement methods 

Amortized cost and effective interest rate 

The amortized cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial 

recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective 

interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial 

assets, adjusted for any loss allowance. 



Kindred Credit Union Limited 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 

(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars) 

(5)

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 

through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a 

financial asset (i.e., its amortized cost before any loss allowance) or to the amortized cost of a financial 

liability. The calculation does not consider ECLs and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts 

and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees. 

When the Credit Union revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective 

financial asset or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original 

effective interest rate. Any changes are recognized in net income. 

Interest income and expense 

Interest income and expense are calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 

amount of financial assets and liabilities, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit 

impaired (or Stage 3), for which interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their 

amortized cost (i.e., net of the ECL provision). 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument. 

At initial recognition, the Credit Union measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus 

transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial 

asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial 

liabilities carried at FVTPL are expensed in net income. Immediately after initial recognition, an ECL 

allowance is recognized for financial assets measured at amortized cost and FVOCI, which results in an 

accounting loss being recognized in net income when an asset is newly originated. 

Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets  

Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value and are classified and are subsequently measured at 

amortized cost, FVOCI or FVTPL. A financial asset is classified as amortized cost if it meets both of the 

following conditions and is not designated as FVTPL: 

i) the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 

flows; and 

ii) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest (SPPI). 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Credit Union may irrevocably 

elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income (OCI). This election is 

made on an investment by investment basis.



Kindred Credit Union Limited 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 

(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars) 

(6)

Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets are classified as FVOCI. All other financial assets are 

classified and subsequently measured at FVTPL. 

The business model reflects how the Credit Union manages the assets in order to generate cash flows, 

which is based on whether the Credit Union’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from 

the assets or to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If 

neither of these is applicable (i.e., financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets 

are classified as part of another business model and measured at FVTPL. Factors considered by the Credit 

Union in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on how the cash 

flows for these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key 

management personnel and how risks are assessed. For example, the Credit Union’s business model for 

the mortgage loan book is to hold to collect contractual cash flows. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Credit Union considers the contractual terms 

of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that 

could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In 

making the assessment, the Credit Union considers: 

i) contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows; 

ii) leverage features; 

iii) prepayment and extension terms; 

iv) terms that limit the Credit Union’s claim to cash flows from specified assets; and 

v) features that modify consideration of the time value of money. 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether 

their cash flows are SPPI. 

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is, 

instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the 

issuer’s net assets. 

The Credit Union’s policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for 

purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses 

are recognized in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to net income, including on disposal. 

Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognized in net income as 

other income when the Credit Union’s right to receive payments is established. 

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVTPL are included in investment income in the statement of 

income and comprehensive income. 
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The measurement categories of financial assets in accordance with IFRS 9 are as follows: 

Financial asset Measurement category

Cash Amortized cost
Loans to members Amortized cost
Excess liquidity deposits Amortized cost
Loans to MEDA Amortized cost
Derivatives FVTPL
Shares in Central 1 FVOCI
Liquidity reserves FVOCI
Oikocredit shares FVTPL
Canadian Cooperative Investment Fund FVOCI

Financial liabilities 

The Credit Union classifies and subsequently measures its financial liabilities at amortized cost or FVTPL. 

Derecognition 

The Credit Union derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 

which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in 

which the Credit Union neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 

and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the 

carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the sum of (i) the consideration 

received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or 

loss that had been recognized in OCI is recognized in profit or loss. 

Any cumulative gain/loss recognized in OCI in respect of equity investment securities designated as FVOCI 

is not recognized in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities. 

The Credit Union enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized on its statement of 

financial position. The transferred asset is derecognized if it meets the derecognition criteria. In certain 

transactions, the Credit Union retains the obligation to service the transferred financial asset for a fee. An 

asset or liability is recognized for the servicing contract if the servicing fee is more than adequate (asset) or 

is less than adequate (liability) for performing the servicing. Any remaining interest in transferred 

financial assets that qualify for derecognition by the Credit Union is recognized as a separate asset or 

liability. 

As outlined in note 3(f), in transactions in which the Credit Union neither retains nor transfers 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset and retains control over the 

asset, the Credit Union continues to recognize the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, 

determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset. 
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The Credit Union derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 

cancelled or expire. 

CEBA loans 

The Government of Canada (GoC) launched the Canada Emergency Business Account (CEBA) program to 

provide interest-free loans to qualifying small businesses and not-for-profits to help cover their operating 

costs during a period where their revenues have been temporarily reduced. The Credit Union is an 

administrator of the program. Recent program revisions require that any unpaid CEBA loans as of 

January 18, 2024 will begin to accrue interest, payable monthly by the member. Loans advanced to 

borrowers do not appear on the statement of financial position for the Credit Union as substantially all the 

risks and rewards associated with the loans, including exposure to payment defaults and principal 

forgiveness, are assumed by the GoC. 

The Credit Union receives a loan administration fee, which is recognized in the statement of income and 

comprehensive income. 

Modification of financial assets 

The Credit Union sometimes modifies the terms of loans provided to customers due to commercial 

renegotiations, or for distressed loans, with a view to maximizing recovery. Such restructuring activities 

include extended payment term arrangements, payment holidays and payment forgiveness. Restructuring 

policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria that, in the judgment of management, indicate 

that scheduled repayments will most likely continue. These policies are kept under continuous review. 

Restructuring is most commonly applied to term loans. 

The risk of default of such assets after modification is assessed at the reporting date and compared with the 

risk under the original terms at initial recognition, when the modification is not substantial and so does 

not result in derecognition of the original asset. The Credit Union monitors the subsequent performance of 

modified assets. The Credit Union may determine that the credit risk has significantly improved after 

restructuring, so that the assets are moved from Stage 3 or Stage 2 (lifetime ECL) to Stage 1 (12-month 

ECL). This is only the case for assets that have performed in accordance with the new terms for six 

consecutive months or more. The gross carrying amount of such assets held as at December 31, 2023 was 

$nil (2022 – $nil). 

The Credit Union continues to monitor if there is a subsequent significant increase in credit risk in relation 

to such assets through the use of specific models for modified assets. 

d) Comprehensive income 

For the Credit Union, OCI represents the change in members’ equity during the year that is attributable to 

unrealized gains and losses on financial assets classified as FVOCI and remeasurements of the present 

value of the post-employment obligation. 
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Consequently, the changes in these items during the year are recognized in the statement of income and 

comprehensive income, net of taxes, which is presented as part of members’ equity on the statement of 

financial position. 

e) Sale of receivables 

The Credit Union periodically sells assets, such as agricultural loans, to other financial institutions to manage 

its portfolio diversification risk. These transactions satisfy the requirements for derecognition under IFRS 

and, accordingly, the agricultural loans sold are removed from the statement of financial position. In these 

instances, the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets and substantially all the risks and 

rewards associated with the assets are transferred to the purchasing institution. A nominal administration 

fee, which is recorded as income when received, is paid to the Credit Union each month. 

f) Mortgage securitizations 

As part of an ongoing program to manage liquidity, capital and interest rate risk, the Credit Union enters 

into mortgage securitization transactions. These transactions allow for the packaging of insured mortgage 

loan receivables into mortgage backed securities (MBS) and for the subsequent sale of these MBS to 

unrelated third parties. 

As outlined in note 3(c), securitized financial instruments are derecognized only when the contractual 

rights to receive the cash flows from these assets have ceased to exist or substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the loans have been transferred. If the criteria for derecognition has not been met, the 

securitization is reflected as a financing transaction and the related liability is initially recorded at fair 

value plus transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate 

method. 

Costs related to the issuance of MBS are amortized over the life of the issue and are included in interest 

expense. 

g) Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided on the 

straight-line method over the expected useful lives of the assets as follows: 

Assets Useful life

Buildings 40 years
Leasehold improvements Term of lease
Furniture and fixtures and computer equipment 3-10 years

Land is not subject to amortization and is carried at cost. 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized on disposal or when no further economic benefits are 

expected from its use. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of 

income and comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognized. 
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h) Leases 

The Credit Union recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 

right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 

adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs 

incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 

underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 

date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The 

estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and 

equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 

adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 

readily determined, the Credit Union’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Credit Union uses its 

incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate of 0.75% to 5.50%. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

at the commencement date; 

 amounts expected to be payable under a residential value guarantee; and 

 the exercise price under a purchase option that the Credit Union is reasonably certain to exercise, 

lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Credit Union is reasonably certain to exercise an 

extension option and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Credit Union is reasonably 

certain not to terminate early. 

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when 

there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in 

the Credit Union’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residential value guarantee, or if 

the Credit Union changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination 

option. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 

amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use 

asset has been reduced to zero. 

The Credit Union presents right-of-use assets in property and equipment and lease liabilities as lease 

liabilities in the statement of financial position. 
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The Credit Union has elected not to recognize the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term 

leases of machinery that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets, including IT 

equipment. The Credit Union recognizes the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on 

a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

i) Impairment of non-financial assets 

Impairment reviews are performed when there are indicators that the recoverable amount of an asset may be 

less than its carrying value. The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of an asset’s fair value less 

cost to sell and value in use. An impairment loss is recognized in the statement of income and comprehensive 

income when there is objective evidence that a loss event has occurred that has impaired future cash flows of 

an asset. In the event that the value of previously impaired assets recovers, the previously recognized 

impairment loss is recovered in the statement of income and comprehensive income at that time. 

j) Derivative financial instruments 

Derivative financial instruments are contracts that require or provide the opportunity to exchange cash 

flows or payments at a future date and by which their value changes in response to a change in specified 

rates, prices or indices and do not require an initial net investment or whose initial net investment is 

smaller than would be required for other similar types of contracts. The Credit Union uses derivative 

financial instruments, primarily interest rate swaps, in order to manage interest rate risk exposure. The 

Credit Union’s policy is not to utilize derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. The Credit 

Union provides index-linked deposits to its members. The embedded options in the index-linked term 

deposit products are separately accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in profit 

or loss. 

Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value and are reported in the statement of financial 

position as derivative financial instrument assets, where they have a positive fair value, and as derivative 

financial instrument liabilities, where they have a negative fair value. Changes in the fair value of the 

derivative instruments are recognized in the statement of income and comprehensive income as net 

unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments. The Credit Union does not apply hedge accounting on 

its derivative portfolio. 

k) Member entitlements 

Member shares, profit shares and investment shares have certain characteristics that are outlined in 

note 12 that require them to be classified as liabilities on the statement of financial position. Accordingly, 

any dividends authorized on these shares are recorded as interest expense. 

l) Foreign currency 

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated into Canadian dollars at exchange 

rates in effect at the statement of financial position date. Revenue and expenses are translated at rates in 

effect at the time of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses are included in other revenue in 

the statement of income and comprehensive income. 
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m) Income taxes 

The Credit Union uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences 

between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax 

bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates 

expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be 

recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in 

income in the period that includes the date of enactment or substantive enactment. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that realization is considered more likely than not. 

n) Employee benefit plan 

The Credit Union accrues its obligations under the post-retirement benefit plan and the related costs and 

has the following policy: 

 the cost of the benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the projected benefit 

method pro-rated on service and management’s best estimate of expected future costs, discount rate 

and retirement ages of employees. 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 

recorded in OCI with an immediate allocation to retained earnings. Past-service costs are recognized 

immediately in income. 

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

The Credit Union makes estimates and assumptions about the future that affect the reported amounts of assets 

and liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other 

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In 

the future, actual experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions. 

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate is recognized prospectively by including it in the statement of 

income and comprehensive income in the year of the change, if the change affects that year only, or in the year 

of the change and future years, if the change affects both. 
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The estimates, assumptions and judgments that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

a) Fair value of financial instruments 

The Credit Union determines the fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in an active market 

using valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including 

discount rates, fair value multipliers and estimates of future cash flows. In that regard, the derived fair 

value estimates cannot always be substantiated by comparison with independent markets and, in many 

cases, may not be capable of being realized immediately. 

The methods and assumptions applied, and the valuation techniques used, for financial instruments that 

are not quoted in an active market are disclosed in note 21. 

b) Member loan loss provision 

The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial assets measured at amortized cost is an area that 

requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and 

credit behaviour (e.g., the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). 

A number of significant judgments are also required in applying the accounting requirements for 

measuring ECLs, such as: 

 determining the criteria for identifying a significant increase in credit risk; 

 establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product 

and the associated ECL; and 

 establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECLs. 

The judgments, inputs, methodology and assumptions used for estimating the ECL allowance are reviewed 

regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. 

The methods and assumptions applied and the valuation techniques used are disclosed in notes 6 and 22. 

Due to ongoing economic changes, there is estimation uncertainty with respect to the recoverability of 

loans to members and the measurement of ECLs. Certain of the inputs and assumptions related to the 

model are impacted by this uncertainty. 

c) Recognition of securitization arrangements 

As part of its program of liquidity, capital and interest rate risk management, the Credit Union enters into 

mortgage securitization arrangements. As a result of these transactions and depending on the nature of the 

arrangement, the Credit Union may be subject to the recognition of the funds received as secured 

borrowings and the continued recognition of the securitized assets. The determination of the requirements 

for continued recognition requires significant judgment. 
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5 Investments 

2023
$

2022
$

Shares in Central 1 (a) 2,628 2,617

Excess liquidity deposits (c) 24,389 86,409
Oikocredit shares (d) 250 250
Loans to MEDA (e) 600 600
Canadian Cooperative Investment Fund (f) 74 61

27,941 89,937

Liquidity reserves (b) 125,133 118,302

153,074 208,239

a) Shares in Central 1  

As a condition of maintaining membership in Central 1, the Credit Union is required to hold an investment 

in Central 1 shares as determined by the Central 1 Board of Directors from time to time. These shares are 

held by the Credit Union principally for the benefits of membership with Central 1, including realization of 

savings through cost sharing and other operational synergies, as well as access to a variety of products and 

services, and not for the purpose of selling in the near term. Accordingly, the shares have been designated 

as FVOCI. 

Central 1 Class A shares are subject to an annual rebalancing mechanism based on credit union asset 

growth and are issued and redeemable at par value. There is no separately quoted market value for these 

shares; however, fair value is determined to be equivalent to the par value due to the fact that transactions 

occur at par value on a regular and recurring basis. The Credit Union’s holding of Central 1 Class A shares

had a net increase from $530,802 to $542,003 during 2023 as a result of capital calls. 

Central 1 Class E shares were issued with a par value of $0.01 per share; however, they are redeemable at 

$1 per share. There is no separately quoted market value for these shares, the shares are not subject to 

rebalancing and new members are not required to subscribe to this class of shares. There has not been a 

sufficient volume of redemptions of Class E shares nor has a communication plan been released by 

Central 1 to redeem these shares that could be used to reliably estimate a fair value for the Class E shares. 

As such, the Credit Union has measured these shares at a par value of $2,086,100, which is an 

approximation of fair value as at December 31, 2023. 
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b) Liquidity reserves 

The Credit Union is required to maintain liquidity reserves with Central 1 equal to 6.00% of the Credit 

Union’s total assets. The amount of the required liquidity reserve is determined monthly based on the 

amount of total assets in the previous month’s financial statements. The instruments bear interest at fixed 

and variable rates, which averaged approximately 3.98% (2022 – 2.87%) at year-end. These are measured 

at FVOCI, on the basis by which the business model is achieved, by both collecting contractual cash flows 

and selling financial assets. 

c) Excess liquidity deposits 

The Credit Union has invested excess funds in term deposits, GICs and short-term funds with Central 1 

and Manulife. These excess liquidity deposits are measured at amortized cost. 

d) Oikocredit shares 

Oikocredit, Ecumenical Development Cooperative Society U.A. (Oikocredit) provides financial services and 

supports organizations internationally to improve the quality of life of low-income people and 

communities. Oikocredit mobilizes the capital needed to carry out its mission by issuing shares to its 

member organizations. 

As at December 31, 2023, the Credit Union’s holdings of these shares are $250,200 (2022 – $250,200). 

Oikocredit shares are classified as FVTPL. Par value has been determined by management to be 

representative of fair value due to the fact that share issue and redemption transactions occur at par value 

on a regular and recurring basis. 

e) Loans to MEDA 

MEDA is an international economic development organization whose mission is to create business 

solutions to poverty. The Credit Union supports this work through the provision of fixed-term promissory 

notes to the organization, which are classified and measured at amortized cost. 

f) Canadian Cooperative Investment Fund (CCIF) 

Supported by selected cooperative organizations across Canada, the CCIF is designed to address a gap in 

the cooperative sector’s access to financing. The fund invests in the cooperative sector in the form of loans, 

equity and quasi-equity investments. The Credit Union has a maximum $150,000 commitment to the fund 

to be invested over the next several years. CCIF shares are classified as FVOCI. 
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6 Loans to members 

a) The Credit Union’s loan portfolio and related allowance for impaired loans 

An analysis of the Credit Union’s loan portfolio and related allowance for impaired loans is as follows: 

December 31, 2023

Gross
amount

ECL
allowance

Carrying
amount

$
Stage 1

$
Stage 2

$
Stage 3

$ $

Residential 658,596 (273) (75) (366) 657,882
Personal 8,320 (78) (15) (5) 8,222
Agricultural 911,087 (210) (24) (1,459) 909,394
Commercial 291,270 (95) (15) (383) 290,777

1,869,273 (656) (129) (2,213) 1,866,275

December 31, 2022

Gross
amount

ECL
allowance

Carrying
amount

$
Stage 1

$
Stage 2

$
Stage 3

$ $

Residential 630,113 (507) (55) (462) 629,089
Personal 6,345 (87) (18) (12) 6,228
Agricultural 819,521 (246) (56) (1,002) 818,217
Commercial 259,970 (96) (48) (463) 259,363

1,715,949 (936) (177) (1,939) 1,712,897

The Credit Union has an agreement in place to sell loans to Farm Credit Canada (FCC). The Credit Union 

continues to service all of these loans as an agent for FCC. Cumulatively, the balance of loans that continue 

to be serviced by the Credit Union on behalf of FCC is approximately $29,138,816 (2022 – $44,470,788). 

During the year, the Credit Union sold $nil (2022 – $36,375,966) of agricultural loans to FCC. 
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b) Allowance for impaired loans 

The following table shows the reconciliation from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance 

by class of loans to members: 

Stage 1
$

Stage 2
$

Stage 3
$

Total
$

Residential
Opening balance –

December 31, 2022 (507) (55) (462) (1,024)
Movement 234 (20) 96 310
Writeoffs - - - -

Ending balance –
December 31, 2023 (273) (75) (366) (714)

Personal
Opening balance –

December 31, 2022 (87) (18) (12) (117)
Movement 9 3 (3) 9
Writeoffs - - 10 10

Ending balance –
December 31, 2023 (78) (15) (5) (98)

Agricultural
Opening balance –

December 31, 2022 (246) (56) (1,002) (1,304)
Movement 36 32 (457) (389)
Writeoffs - - - -

Ending balance –
December 31, 2023 (210) (24) (1,459) (1,693)
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Stage 1
$

Stage 2
$

Stage 3
$

Total
$

Commercial
Opening balance –

December 31, 2022 (96) (48) (463) (607)
Movement 1 33 80 114
Writeoffs - - - -

Ending balance –
December 31, 2023 (95) (15) (383) (493)

Total
Opening balance –

December 31, 2022 (936) (177) (1,939) (3,052)
Movement 280 48 (274) 54
Writeoffs - - - -

Ending balance –
December 31, 2023 (656) (129) (2,213) (2,998)

The Credit Union is holding security against the Stage 3 loans in the estimated amounts of $1,062,981 

(2022 – $627,681) for personal loans, $9,642,981 (2022 – $8,792,981) for residential mortgages, 

$43,060,287 (2022 – $46,002,044) for agricultural loans and $68,162,808 (2022 – $62,008,493) for 

commercial loans.  

The Credit Union is holding security in the form of member deposits in the estimated amount of 

$14,069,550 (2022 – $2,320,575) as security for loans to members. 

c) Loan loss provisions 

The loss allowance recognized in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, such as: 

 transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to loans to members experiencing significant 

increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit impaired in the period, and the consequent 

step up (or step down) between 12-month and lifetime ECLs (see note 3); 

 additional allowances for new loans to members recognized during the period, as well as releases for 

financial instruments derecognized in the period; 

 impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in probability of default, exposure at default and 

loss given default in the period, arising from regular refreshing of inputs to models; 

 impacts on the measurement of ECLs due to changes made to models and assumptions; 

 discount unwind within ECLs due to the passage of time, as ECLs are measured on a present value 

basis; and 

 loans to members derecognized during the period and writeoffs of allowances related to loans that 

were written off during the period. 
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The key inputs into the measurement of ECLs are the following variables: 

 probability of default; 

 loss given default; and 

 exposure at default. 

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month probability of default by the loss 

given default and exposure at default. Lifetime ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime probability of 

default by the loss given default and exposure at default. 

The methodology of estimating the PD is discussed above in note 3. 

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. LGD parameters are estimated based on the 

history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models consider the 

structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that 

is integral to the financial asset. For loans secured by retail property, loan-to-value ratios are a key 

parameter in determining LGD. LGD estimates are recalibrated for different economic scenarios as 

described in note 22 and, for real estate lending, to reflect possible changes in property prices. They are 

calculated on a discounted cash flow basis using the effective interest rate as the discounting factor. 

The exposure at default (EAD) represents the expected exposure in the event of default. EAD is calculated 

for loans with regular instalments (payments) by using the loan’s amortization schedule to estimate the 

outstanding loan amount remaining in future years. This is done by using the current outstanding balance 

(principal and interest) and deducting from it future payments, producing a list of outstanding balances 

that decrease over time. 

d) Loan portfolio by maturity date 

The following table analyzes the Credit Union’s loan portfolio by maturity date. 

Variable 
rates 

$

Fixed rates
less than 

1 year 
$

Fixed rates 
1-5 years 

$

2023 
Total 

$

2022 
Total 

$

Total loans 256,071 346,207 1,266,995 1,869,273 1,715,949

Average effective yield 8.07% 5.67% 4.24% 5.03% 4.29%
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e) Impaired loans 

The following table identifies the portion of the Credit Union’s loan portfolio that is past due but not 

considered Stage 3 at December 31, 2023. For each loan type, the aging category, the carrying value of the 

loan and the value of the security held have been presented. There were no residential, agricultural or 

commercial loans that were past due but not considered Stage 3. 

Past due 
Carrying
amount 

$
Security held 

$

Residential 30-60 days 1,299 3,312
60-90 days - -

90-120 days - -
120+ days - -

Personal 30-60 days 35 48
60-90 days 1 -

90-120 days - -
120+ days - -

Agricultural 30-60 days 2,067 4,475
60-90 days 34 34

90-120 days - -
120+ days - -

Commercial 30-60 days 5 -
60-90 days 1,808 3,000

90-120 days 1 -
120+ days - -

5,250 10,869
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7 Property and equipment 

The movements in property and equipment were as follows: 

Right-
of-use 
assets 

$
Land 

$
Buildings 

$

Leasehold 
improvements 

$
Computers 

$

Furniture
and 

fixtures 
$

Total 
$

Cost
Balance on 

December 31, 
2021 11,924  777  2,329  3,687  1,769  2,893  23,379 

Additions 53 - 59 15 915 295 1,337
Disposals - - - 1,305 780 349 2,434

Balance on 
December 31, 
2022 11,977  777  2,388  2,397  1,904  2,839  22,282 

Additions 3,957 - 60 130 739 365 5,251
Disposals - - - 29 152 128 309

Balance on
December 31, 
2023 15,934  777  2,448  2,498  2,491  3,076  27,224 

Accumulated 
amortization

Balance on
December 31, 
2021 2,170  -  891  2,580  954  1,595  8,190 

Amortization 773 - 100 372 645 309 2,199
Disposals - - - 1,305 780 349 2,434

Balance on
December 31, 
2022 2,943  -  991  1,647  819  1,555  7,955 

Amortization 823 - 118 229 700 309 2,179
Disposals - - - 29 152 128 309

Balance on
December 31, 
2023 3,766  -  1,109  1,847  1,367  1,736  9,825 

Net book value
December 31, 2022 9,034 777 1,397 750 1,085 1,284 14,327
December 31, 2023 12,168 777 1,339 651 1,124 1,340 17,399

Amortization expense of $2,178,000 (2022 – $2,199,000) is included in occupancy expense in the statement of 

income and comprehensive income. 

The right-of-use assets consist entirely of leases for premises. 



Kindred Credit Union Limited 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 

(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars) 

(22)

8 Members’ deposits 

The following table provides a breakdown and analysis of the Credit Union’s member deposit portfolio by 

maturity date: 

Variable 
rates 

$

Fixed
rates 

less than 
1 year 

$

Fixed 
rates 

1-5 years 
$

2023 
Total 

$

2022 
Total 

$

Chequing and savings accounts 680,850 - - 680,850 739,632
GICs - 448,920 265,749 714,669 633,055
RRSP and other registered plans 8,777 46,934 68,061 123,772 113,686
RRIF 2,188 31,117 47,328 80,633 75,107
Tax-free savings accounts 19,599 70,732 70,791 161,122 134,532

Total 711,414 597,703 451,929 1,761,046 1,696,012

Average effective interest rates 1.11% 3.74% 4.39% 2.85% 1.94%

Average effective interest rates are based on book values of deposits and contractual interest rates. All types of 

member deposits are financial liabilities and are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Concentra Trust Company of Canada acts as trustee in connection with Registered Plans. 

9 Demand loan 

The Credit Union has access to a line of credit facility totalling $2,500,000 and US$250,000 at Central 1. These 

facilities are included in demand loan facilities totalling $58,860,000 (2022 – $58,610,000) with interest rates 

to be agreed on when amounts are drawn. The facilities are secured by an assignment of loans to members and 

a general security agreement covering all assets of the Credit Union. At year-end, the Credit Union had drawn 

$nil under its line of credit facility (2022 – $nil) and had borrowings of $nil under the demand loan facility 

(2022 – $nil). 

The Credit Union also has access to a standby letter of credit line of $800,000 (2022 – $800,000), of which 

$nil (2022 – $30,301) was utilized at year-end and a financial guarantee line of $20,000,000, of which $nil 

(2022 – $nil) was utilized at year-end. 

In the ordinary course of business, the Credit Union is temporarily allowed to exceed the maximum line of 

credit facility due to the timing of clearing outstanding deposits and cheques. 
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10 Lease liabilities 

The Credit Union has various leases that are included in property and equipment. 

Minimum lease payments
Present value of

minimum lease payments

2023
$

2022
$

2023
$

2022
$

Not later than 1 year 1,055 992 536 793
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 5,619 4,016 3,270 3,209
Later than 5 years 13,966 7,662 9,861 6,413

20,640 12,670 13,667 10,415
Less: Future finance charges 6,973 2,255 - -

Present value of minimum lease payments 13,667 10,415 13,667 10,415

11 Post-retirement employee future benefits 

The Credit Union sponsors a post-retirement benefit plan providing health, dental and life insurance coverage 

to eligible employees. The Credit Union’s post-retirement benefit plan is administered by Great West Life 

Assurance Company. 

Actuarial valuations of the plan are made based on market-related discount rates. The following table presents 

information related to the Credit Union’s benefit plan as at December 31, including the amounts recorded in 

accounts payable and accrued charges on the statement of financial position and the components of the net 

benefit plan expense: 

a) Accrued benefit obligation 

2023
$

2022
$

Balance – Beginning of year 2,533 3,664
Current service cost 94 151
Interest cost 134 108
Benefits paid (118) (62)

Remeasurements
Loss (gain) from change in assumptions 73 (1,328)

Balance – End of year, included in accounts payable and 
accrued charges 2,716 2,533

There are no separate plan assets. 
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The Credit Union’s benefit plan expenses, included in personnel expenses in the statement of income and 

comprehensive income, were as follows: 

2023
$

2022
$

Current service cost 94 151
Interest cost 134 108

Net benefit plan expense 228 259

Through its post-employment medical plan, the Credit Union is exposed to a number of risks, the most 

significant of which are detailed below: 

 changes in bond yields – a decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities; and 

 trend rates – an increase in expected health care and dental care costs will increase plan liabilities. 

The assumptions used in the measurement of the accrued benefit obligation are as follows: 

i) the discount rate was established at 5.70% (2022 – 5.30%). The rate of increase in expected health 

care rates is presumed to be 6.50% and this rate will reduce linearly to 5.00% after six years. Dental 

care costs are presumed to increase 5.00% per year.  

b) Sensitivity of assumptions 

2023
$

2022
$

Liability change resulting from
1% increase in trend rate 303 407
1% decrease in trend rate (242) (308)
1-year increase in retirement age (42) (27)
1% increase in discount rate (348) (452)
1% decrease in discount rate 440 608

Each sensitivity analysis above is based on changing one assumption while holding all other assumptions 

constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. 

When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to variations in significant actuarial 

assumptions, the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the 

projected benefit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as for calculating the liability 

recognized in the statement of financial position. 

The most recent actuarial valuation was prepared as at December 31, 2023. The average remaining service 

period of the active employees covered by the benefit plan is 7.0 years. 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 14.5 years.
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12 Liabilities and equity qualifying as regulatory capital 

2023
$

2022
$

Investment shares – 99,495,986 (2022 – 94,374,690) 99,496 94,375

Profit shares – 21,832,138 (2022 – 19,326,757) 20,342 19,327
Provision for the issuance of profit shares – 1,490,000 (2022 – 1,460,000) 1,490 1,460
Member shares – 124,172 (2022 – 118,301) 621 593

22,453 21,380

a) Investment shares 

An unlimited number of non-voting, non-cumulative Class B special shares have been authorized with a 

stated value of $1 per share. The holder of investment shares may request redemption five years following 

issuance. All redemptions are subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors. These special shares are 

issuable in series and rank ahead of owner shares and member shares. Investment shares form part of 

regulatory capital and have been classified as equity on the basis of their redemption features. During the 

year, the Credit Union issued 5,121,296 in new investment shares for net proceeds of $5,121,296.  

b) Profit shares 

An unlimited number of Class A non-voting, non-cumulative patronage shares have been authorized with a 

stated value of $1 per share. Profit shares, which represent cumulative patronage refunds for existing 

members, form part of regulatory capital. These shares rank ahead of member shares and are payable to 

members on termination of membership, or at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Profit shares form 

part of regulatory capital and have been designated as other liabilities. 

It is the Credit Union’s practice at year-end to accrue a provision for the issuance of profit shares in 

February of the following year. This provision is presented as a liability qualifying as regulatory capital. 

c) Member shares 

An unlimited number of voting, non-cumulative member shares have been authorized with a stated value 

of $5 per share. Member shares are the minimum share deposit requirement for membership and form 

part of regulatory capital. These shares are non-interest bearing and are payable to members on 

termination of membership. Member shares form part of regulatory capital and have been designated as 

other liabilities. 



Kindred Credit Union Limited 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2023 

(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars) 

(26)

Opening balance
2023 

$
Issued 

$
Redeemed 

$

Closing balance
2023 

$

Investment shares 94,375 5,121 - 99,496
Profit shares 20,787 1,490 (445) 21,832
Member shares 593 57 (29) 621

Opening balance
2022 

$
Issued 

$
Redeemed 

$

Closing balance
2022 

$

Investment shares 49,964 44,411 - 94,375
Profit shares 19,888 1,460 (561) 20,787
Member shares 565 57 (29) 593

13 Capital and liquidity management 

The Act requires credit unions to maintain minimum levels of liquidity and regulatory capital. Liquidity is 

measured as cash resources and liquidity term deposits, expressed as a percentage of the total of members’ 

deposits and demand loan. Beginning for fiscal years ended December 31, 2021, the Act required credit unions 

to maintain regulatory capital not less than 3% of total assets, and not less than 8% of risk-weighted assets. 

Regulatory capital, comprised of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital, includes investment shares, profit shares, member 

shares, retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income, adjusted for certain items under the 

Regulations to the Act. In accordance with the Act, no payments shall be made from regulatory capital that 

would cause regulatory capital to fall below regulatory requirements. The Credit Union’s capital management 

objective is to maintain sufficient capital to protect the Credit Union and ensure viability. The Financial 

Services Regulatory Authority of Ontario (FSRA) rules require further capital ratios be calculated, which 

include a 2.50% capital conservation buffer. The Credit Union has established an internal policy to maintain 

compliance that includes Board limits that are higher with respect to regulatory capital outlined as follows: 

Board target 
%

Regulatory
limit 

%

Capital ratio
Consolidated Tier 1 Capital Ratio* 10.00 6.50/*9.00
Consolidated Retained Earnings to Risk-Weighted Capital Ratio 4.50 3.00
Consolidated Total Capital Ratio 11.50 8.00/*10.50
Consolidated Leverage Ratio 6.50 3.00

* Inclusive of 2.50% FSRA Capital Buffer Amount 
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As at December 31, 2023, the Credit Union maintained compliance with minimum statutory requirements for 

regulatory capital:

2023 
$  

2022 
$ 

Tier 1 capital 
Membership shares 621  593 
Non-redeemable portion of Tier 1 investment capital 97,007  92,012 
Retained earnings 75,740  68,367 
Non-redeemable portion of patronage shares 13,745  13,515 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (298) (1,705)

Net Tier 1 Capital 186,815  172,782 

Tier 2 capital 
Redeemable portion of profit shares 1,527  1,502 
Redeemable portion of investment shares 8,393  7,555 
Stage 1 and 2 ECL 784  1,113 

Total Tier 2 Capital 10,704  10,170 

Total regulatory capital 197,519  182,952 

Tier 1 capital ratio 14.38%   14.45% 
Total capital ratio 15.21%   15.30% 
Leverage ratio 9.45%   9.22% 
Liquidity 10.36%   13.83% 

14 Required disclosures under the Act and related party transactions 

a) Outstanding loans to key management personnel, their spouses, dependants, children and related 

corporations amounted to $5,327,040 (2022 – $6,161,501). None of these loans are considered impaired.  

Outstanding deposits from key management personnel, their spouses, dependants, children and related 

corporations amounted to $85,635,828 (2022 – $83,095,081). 

b) Remuneration paid to directors of the Credit Union is $342,412 (2022 – $263,141). Other expenses of the 

Board amounted to $15,033 (2022 – $7,982). 

c) The Act requires credit unions to disclose remuneration paid during the year to employees whose total 

remuneration exceeds $175,000. If there are more than five employees in this category, the five employees 

with the highest total remuneration for the year are disclosed. The table below provides this information 

for the current year. 
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Name Position Salary
$

Benefits
$

Bonus
$

Total
$

Ian Thomas Former Chief Executive Officer 329 25 - 354

John Klassen Interim Chief Executive Officer 265 20 56 341

Nolan Andres Chief, Technology and Innovation 232 17 48 297

Rebecca Smith
Vice-president, Engagement and

Values 193 15 33 241

Max Bentz Vice-president, Member Relationships 188 14 31 233

d) Compensation of key management personnel 

Key management personnel of the Credit Union include all directors, officers and key management. The 

summary of compensation for key management personnel is as follows: 

2023
$

2022
$

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1,980 1,730
Other long-term benefits 135 103
Bonus 246 309

2,361 2,142

15 Patronage refund 

The patronage refund is authorized by the Board of Directors and is allocated to members in two ways. Firstly, 

members were allocated a dividend of 3.18% (2022 – 2.81%) on their December 31, 2023 owner shares. 

Secondly, members received an allocation based on the volume of business conducted with the Credit Union 

during the year. The patronage refund is classified as part of interest expense in the statement of income and 

comprehensive income as outlined in note 12(b). 
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16 Income taxes 

a) Income tax expense is calculated as follows: 

2023
$

2022
$

Income before income taxes 14,820 10,800
Combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate 

applicable to the Credit Union 18.2% 18.2%

Income tax provision based on combined federal and 
provincial income tax rate 2,697 1,966

Differences from statutory rate
Investment share dividend (1,032) (645)
Other 43 324

1,708 1,645

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes
Current 1,570 1,650
Deferred 138 (5)

1,708 1,645

b) Deferred income taxes resulted from the following: 

2023
$

2022
$

Deferred tax asset arising from the following
Property and equipment and leases 101 203
Allowance for impaired loans 183 238
Post-retirement employee future benefit plan 494 461
Liquidity reserve 63 377
Other 2 2

843 1,281

Deferred tax asset
To be recovered after more than 12 months 660 1,043
To be recovered within 12 months 183 238

843 1,281
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Opening 
balance – 

December 31, 
2022 

$

Recognized in
statement of 
income and 

comprehensive 
income 

$

Recognized 
in other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) 

$

Closing 
balance – 

December 31, 
2023 

$

Deferred tax asset
Property and 

equipment and 
leases 203 (102) - 101

Allowance for impaired 
loans 238 (55) - 183

Post-retirement 
employee future 
benefit plan 461 19 14 494

Liquidity reserve 377 - (314) 63
Other 2 - - 2

Net deferred tax asset 1,281 (138) (300) 843

Opening 
balance – 

December 31, 
2021 

$

Recognized in
statement of 
income and 

comprehensive 
income 

$

Recognized 
in other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) 

$

Closing 
balance – 

December 31, 
2022 

$

Deferred tax asset
Property and 

equipment and 
leases 360 (157) - 203

Allowance for impaired 
loans 114 124 - 238

Post-retirement 
employee future 
benefit plan 667 35 (241) 461

Liquidity reserve 187 - 190 377
Other (1) 3 - 2

Net deferred tax asset 1,327 5 (51) 1,281

c) Tax amounts related to other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows: 

2023

Gross
$

Taxes
$

Net of taxes
$

Net tax expense (recovery) on 
investments designated as FVOCI (1,647) 300 (1,347)
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2022

Gross
$

Taxes
$

Net of taxes
$

Net tax expense (recovery) on 
investments designated as FVOCI (280) 51 (229)

17 Commitments and contingencies 

The Credit Union has made commitments to members for loans of approximately $50,402,633 (2022 – 

$34,933,204), which have not been disbursed by December 31, 2023. In addition, unutilized portions of lines of 

credit extended to members as at December 31, 2023 amounted to approximately $332,059,291 (2022 – 

$313,179,580). 

18 Pension plan 

The Credit Union has a defined contribution pension plan for qualifying employees. The Credit Union matches 

employee contributions up to 5% of the employee’s salary (7% for staff hired pre-January 1, 2017). The expenses 

and payments for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $392,396 (2022 – $356,350). The Credit Union has 

no further liability or obligation for future contributions to fund future benefits to plan members. 

19 Derivative financial instruments 

a) Index-linked purchase option agreements 

Included in GICs, RRSPs and tax-free savings accounts is a total of $484,261 (2022 – $556,858) of index-

linked deposits. The index-linked deposits are for a three or five-year period, with the return based on the 

performance of various stock market indices. 

The Credit Union has entered into purchase option agreements with Central 1 for a notional amount of  

$479,216 (2022 – $551,813) to offset the exposure to the various indices associated with these products, 

whereby the Credit Union pays Central 1 a fixed amount of interest at the start of the contract based on the 

face value of the index-linked deposits sold. At the end of the three or five-year term, Central 1 pays to the 

Credit Union an amount equal to the amount that will be paid to the depositor based on the performance 

of the particular indices. 

The purpose of these purchase option agreements is to provide an economic hedge against market 

fluctuations. These agreements have fair values that vary based on changes in various indices. The fair 

value of these purchase option agreements included in other receivables amounted to $25,641 as at  

December 31, 2023 (2022 – $35,380). The fair value of the options embedded in the index-linked deposits 

included in members’ deposits amounted to $25,641 as at December 31, 2023 (2022 – $35,380). The gain 

or loss recognized as a result of these options is $nil (2022 – $nil).
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b) Interest rate swaps 

The Credit Union enters into interest rate swap agreements in order to provide an economic hedge against 

exposure to interest rate fluctuations. As at December 31, 2023, the Credit Union was party to five interest 

rate swap agreements. The agreements in aggregate represent a notional principal amount of 

$125,000,000 (2022 – $75,000,000), which is used as the basis for determining payments under the 

contracts and is not actually exchanged between the Credit Union and Central 1, its counterparty. 

Under the term of the agreements, the Credit Union has contracted with the counterparty to pay interest at 

a variable rate to be re-priced monthly or quarterly, while receiving interest at a fixed rate on the notional 

principal amount. 

These derivative instruments are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. Interest rate 

swaps have a fair value that varies based on the particular contract, considering such factors as the 

notional value, the term to maturity and change in interest rates. As at December 31, 2023, the fair value of 

these agreements was a liability of $232,029 (2022 – $311,920). Included as components of loss on 

derivative financial instruments in the statement of income and comprehensive income is (gain) loss on 

derivative financial instruments of net interest revenue of $722,319 (2022 – net interest revenue of 

$27,242) and net unrealized losses on interest rate swap transactions of $232,029 (2022 – net realized 

losses of $311,920). 

Notional amount
$

Maturity
date

Receiving rate
%

Paying rate
%

Fair value
$

25,000
March 15,

2024 3.90 Daily CORRA (59)

25,000
June 15,

2024 3.96 Daily CORRA (109)

25,000
December 15,

2024 5.14 Daily CORRA 140

25,000
September 15,

2024 3.99 Daily CORRA (130)

25,000
June 15,

2024 4.27 Daily CORRA (74)

(232)
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20 Mortgage securitizations 

The following table summarizes the carrying and fair values of mortgages of the Credit Union that have been 

securitized and sold by the Credit Union to third parties, as well as the carrying and fair values of the 

corresponding mortgage securitization liabilities. 

Carrying
value 

$

Fair
value 

$

Securitized mortgages sold as NHA MBS 76,912 78,542
Principal payments to be applied (included in cash) 703 703

Total securitized assets 77,615 79,245
Mortgage securitization liabilities 76,889 78,519

Net amount 726 726

All mortgages securitized by the Credit Union are required to be fully insured prior to sale and therefore give 

rise to minimal credit risk. However, the Credit Union remains exposed to interest rate risk, timely payment 

and prepayment risk associated with the underlying assets. Accordingly, the assets, liabilities, revenue and 

expenses have not been derecognized and the transactions are accounted for as secured financing transactions 

in the Credit Union’s statement of financial position and statement of income and comprehensive income as 

outlined in note 3(f). 

21 Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair values of the Credit Union’s financial instruments were estimated using the valuation methods and 

assumptions described below. Since many of the Credit Union’s financial instruments lack an available trading 

market, the fair values represent estimates of the current market value of instruments, taking into account 

changes in interest rates that have occurred since their origination. Due to the use of subjective assumptions 

and uncertainties, the fair value amounts should not be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate 

settlement of the instruments. 

Fair values of floating rate loans and deposits approximate book value as the interest rates on these instruments 

automatically re-price to market insofar as the spread remains appropriate. Fixed rate loans are valued by 

discounting the contractual future cash flows at current market rates for loans with similar credit risks. Fixed 

rate deposits are valued by discounting the contractual future cash flows using market rates currently being 

offered for deposits with similar terms. A credit valuation adjustment is applied to the calculated fair value of 

uninsured deposits to account for the Credit Union’s own risk. 

Derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value in the statement of financial position. The fair value 

is determined based on prevailing market rates and notional value.  

The fair value for the Credit Union’s investments as detailed in note 5 is determined as follows.
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 membership shares in Central 1 and Oikocredit do not trade in a public market. Fair value approximates 

par value as the shares are subject to regular rebalancing across the membership; 

 liquidity reserves are traded in a public market and are measured using the closing fair value; 

 excess liquidity deposits and loans to MEDA are fair valued by discounting the contractual future cash 

flows at current market rates of similar financial instruments with similar terms; 

 Canadian Cooperative Investment Fund does not trade in a public market. Fair value is based on the Credit 

Union’s share of net asset value; 

 Class E membership shares in Central 1 do not trade in a public market, redemptions are infrequent and 

no clear plan of redemption by Central 1 has been communicated. As such, the shares are measured at par 

value, which approximates fair value at December 31, 2023; and  

 the fair value of profit and membership shares approximate carrying values. 

Fair value hierarchy 

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the statement of financial position are measured and classified in 

a hierarchy consisting of three levels for disclosure purposes. The three levels are based on the priority of the 

inputs to the respective valuation technique. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices 

in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs  

(Level 3). An asset or liability’s classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of 

significant input to its valuation. The input levels are defined as follows: 

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable either directly or 

indirectly. 

Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and are significant to the 

estimated fair value of the assets or liabilities. 

Estimated fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are described in the following table: 

2023 2022
Fair

value 
hierarchy

Carrying
value 

$

Fair
value 

$

Carrying
value 

$

Fair
value 

$

Recurring measurements
Financial assets

Shares in Central 1 Class A Level 2 542 542 531 531
Shares in Central 1 Class E Level 2 2,086 2,086 2,086 2,086
Shares in Oikocredit Level 2 250 250 250 250

Fair values disclosed
Financial assets

Liquidity reserves Level 2 125,133 125,133 118,302 118,302
Loans to MEDA Level 2 600 600 600 600
Loans to members Level 3 1,866,275 1,820,044 1,712,897 1,640,367
Excess liquidity deposits Level 2 24,389 24,389 89,937 89,937
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2023 2022
Fair

value 
hierarchy

Carrying
value 

$

Fair
value 

$

Carrying
value 

$

Fair
value 

$

Financial liabilities
Deposits of members Level 3 1,761,046 1,752,303 1,697,042 1,679,907
Mortgage securitization liabilities Level 2 76,889 78,519 60,391 58,963
Profit shares Level 2 21,832 21,832 20,787 20,787
Member shares Level 2 621 621 593 593

Fair values for items that are short-term in nature are approximately equal to book value. These include cash, 

accrued interest payable and accounts payable and accrued charges.  

22 Financial risk management 

The Credit Union’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyze risks, to set appropriate risk 

limits and controls and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date 

information systems. The Credit Union follows an enterprise risk management framework, which involves 

identifying particular events or circumstances relevant to its objectives, assessing them in terms of probability 

and magnitude, determining a response strategy and monitoring progress. The Credit Union regularly reviews 

its risk management policies and systems to take account of changes in markets, products and emerging best 

practices. 

Risk management is carried out by a number of delegated committees reporting to the Board of Directors. The 

Board of Directors provides written principles for risk tolerance and overall risk management. Management 

reports to the Board of Directors on compliance with the risk management policies of the Credit Union. In 

addition, the Credit Union utilizes a variety of resources to undertake various internal audit activities and 

reports to the responsible senior leader and Board of Directors the results of these activities. 

Financial instruments comprise the majority of the Credit Union’s assets and liabilities. The Credit Union 

accepts deposits from members at both fixed and variable rates for various periods and seeks to earn an interest 

rate margin by investing these funds in high-quality financial instruments – principally loans and mortgages. 

The primary types of financial risk that arise from these activities are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, 

foreign exchange risk and other price risk. 

The following table describes the significant financial instrument activity undertaken by the Credit Union, the 

risks associated with such activities and the methods used in managing those risks. 

Activity  Risks  Method in managing risks 

An imbalance in the amount of 
variable rate loans to members 
compared to variable rate 
members’ deposits 

 Sensitivity to changes in interest
rates 

 Asset-liability matching, sales of 
selected loan portfolios and 
periodic use of derivatives 

Index linked deposit products  Sensitivity to changes in 
underlying equity indices 

Options are used to mitigate this 
risk 
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a) Interest rate risk 

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of the Credit Union’s financial instruments 

will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value 

of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in prevailing market interest rates. The financial 

margin reported in the statement of income and comprehensive income may increase or decrease in 

response to changes in market interest rates. Accordingly, the Credit Union sets limits on the level of 

mismatch of interest rate re-pricing that may be undertaken, which is monitored by the Credit Union’s 

management and reported to the Board, which is responsible for managing interest rate risk. 

In managing interest rate risk, the Credit Union relies primarily on use of the asset-liability and interest 

rate sensitivity models. Periodically, the Credit Union may enter into interest rate swaps to adjust the 

exposure to interest rate risk by modifying the re-pricing of the Credit Union’s financial instruments. The 

full extent of the interest rate swaps that the Credit Union has in place are included in note 19(b). 

Interest rate shock analysis is used to assess the change in value of the Credit Union’s financial 

instruments when an immediate increase or decrease to interest rates is introduced and the resulting 

changes in income are computed over a 12-month period. This shock analysis is calculated on a monthly 

basis and is reported to the asset-liability committee (ALCO) and subsequently to the Board. Based on 

current differences between financial assets and financial liabilities, the Credit Union estimates that an 

immediate and sustained 50 basis point increase (decrease) in interest rates would increase (decrease) net 

interest income for the year by approximately $240,000 (2022 – $416,000). 

The ALCO also looks at other aspects of interest rate risk such as basis risk, which is the risk of loss arising 

from changes in the relationship of interest rates that have similar but not identical characteristics (for 

example the difference between prime rates and the Canadian Deposit Offering Rate) and prepayment risk, 

which is the risk of loss of interest income arising from the early repayment of fixed rate mortgages and 

loans, to ensure they are appropriate and takes actions to ensure these are within acceptable levels. 

The following schedule shows the Credit Union’s sensitivity to interest rate changes as at December 31, 

2023. Amounts with variable rates, or due or payable on demand, are classified as maturing within less 

than one year, regardless of maturity. Member loans and deposits subject to fixed rates are based on 

contractual terms. Amounts that are not interest sensitive have been grouped together. 

Assets 
$

Liabilities and
members’ equity 

$

Interest rate
swaps 

$

Net asset/
liability gap 

$

Expected re-pricing or 
maturity date
Less than one year 709,418 (1,322,082) (125,000) (737,664)
1 to 2 years 396,460 (274,729) 125,000 246,731
2 to 3 years 487,368 (95,817) - 391,551
3 to 4 years 291,944 (82,501) - 209,443
4 to 5 years or more 189,896 (87,318) - 102,578
Non-interest sensitive 3,795 (216,434) - (212,639)

2,078,881 (2,078,881) - -
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Interest sensitive assets and liabilities cannot normally be perfectly matched by amount and term to 

maturity. One of the roles of a credit union is to intermediate between the expectation of borrowers and 

depositors. The average rate of interest bearing assets is 4.97% and interest bearing liabilities is 2.81%. 

b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a credit union member or counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in full 

when due. Credit risk arises principally from lending activities that result in member loans and advances 

and investing activities that result in investments in cash resources. Counterparty risk is also a key 

consideration with respect to derivative contracts, which the Credit Union enters into from time to time 

with Central 1. Significant changes in the economy of the Province of Ontario or deteriorations in lending 

sectors that represent a concentration within the Credit Union’s loan portfolio may result in losses that are 

different from those provided for at the statement of financial position date. Management of credit risk is 

an integral part of the Credit Union’s activities. Concentration of loans is managed by the implementation 

of sectoral and member specific limits as well as the periodic use of syndications with other financial 

institutions to limit the potential exposure to any one member. Management carefully monitors and 

manages the Credit Union’s exposure to credit risk by a combination of methods.  

The Credit Union maintains levels of borrowing approval limits and, prior to advancing funds to a 

member, an assessment of the credit quality of the member is made. The Credit Union emphasizes 

responsible lending in its relationships with members and establishes that loans are within the member’s 

ability to repay, rather than relying exclusively on collateral. 

As at December 31, 2023, the classes of financial instruments for which the Credit Union is most exposed 

to credit risk are as follows: 

Credit risk exposure Outstanding
$

Liquidity reserves 125,133
Investments 27,941
Loans to members 1,869,273

2,022,347

Beyond the credit risk associated with the above financial assets, the Credit Union is also exposed to credit 

risk associated with undrawn lines of credit and undisbursed commitments to members for loans as at 

year-end, as disclosed in note 17. 

Loan impairment 

At each reporting date, the Credit Union assesses whether a loan or groups of loans are credit impaired 

(referred to as Stage 3 loans). A loan is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental 

impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
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Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes the following data: 

i) significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

ii) a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 

iii) the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Credit Union on terms that the Credit Union would not 

consider otherwise; and 

iv) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization. 

The Credit Union incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit 

risk of a loan or groups of loans has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the 

measurement of ECL.  

The Credit Union formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, which is the median scenario assigned 

80% probability of occurring, and two less likely scenarios, one upside and one downside, each assigned a 

10% probability of occurring. External information considered includes economic data and forecasts 

published by government bodies and monetary authorities in the jurisdictions in which the Credit Union 

operates. 

The key drivers considered for credit risk are unemployment rates, interest rates and real estate prices. 

None are considered to have a material impact on the loan loss provision at this time. There have been no 

significant changes in estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the reporting period. 

Loans to members 

Loans to members consist of loans, some of which are supported by specific collateral such as residential 

properties, and charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable. The 

Credit Union maintains guidelines on the acceptability of specific types of collateral. Where significant 

impairment indicators are identified, the Credit Union will take additional measures to manage the risk of 

default, which may include seeking additional collateral. In the case of loans that are conventional 

mortgages, the Board has established maximum loan to value (Max. LTV) ratios that cannot be exceeded. 

The following chart gives a profile of these maximums and identifies the amount of conventional 

mortgages for each loan portfolio that are subject to these maximums: 

Portfolio Total loans 
$

Conventional
mortgage loans 

$
Max. LTV 

%

Residential 658,596 610,199 80
Personal 8,320 - -
Agricultural 911,087 805,570 75
Commercial 291,270 198,236 60

1,869,273 1,614,005
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The Credit Union’s lending (measured as a percentage of the total loan portfolio) is diversified by portfolio 

sectors as follows: 

Board
maximum 

%
2023 

%
2022 

%

Residential No limit 35.2 36.7
Personal No limit 0.4 0.4
Agricultural 55 48.8 47.8
Commercial 25 14.2 13.3
Institutional 10 0.8 1.2
Unincorporated association 5 0.6 0.6

Board policy also requires that the maximum combined exposure for total commercial and agricultural 

lending (excluding institutional and unincorporated association loans) be less than 65.0% of assets. At 

December 31, 2023, commercial and agricultural loan exposure on this basis was 63.0%.  

Furthermore, within the above-noted portfolio sectors, the Board has also established maximum loan 

concentrations within industry sectors to ensure an appropriate diversification as the Board considers 

appropriate within these portfolios. Actual concentrations by industry sector were well below the 

maximums at year-end. 

The credit quality of the commercial and agricultural loan portfolio for those loans that are neither past 

due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the Credit Union’s internal risk rating system. The Credit 

Union assesses the relative risk of the account using internal rating tools and taking into account statistical 

analysis as well as the experience and judgment of the credit department. Loans subject to ratings are 

assigned a risk score from 1 to 6 (1 = low risk, 6 = watch account). Loans are regularly reviewed and 

updated as appropriate. With respect to the personal loan and residential mortgage portfolio, procedures 

are in place to ensure the regular monitoring and review of loans in addition to scheduled audits at the 

branch and head office levels. 

Risk scale Stage 1 
$  

Stage 2 
$  

Stage 3 
$  

2023 
Total 

$  

2022 
Total 

$ 

1 – Low 38,168  -  -  38,168  40,491 
2 – Medium low  290,875  53  -  290,928  254,830 
3 – Medium  638,507  1,808  -  640,315  573,224 
4 – Medium high  153,474  890  -  154,364  147,500 
5 – High 48,019  2,066  236  50,321  30,428 
6 – Watch -  -  -  -  16,421 

 1,169,043  4,817  236  1,174,096  1,062,894 

The carrying value of all loans restructured for members during the year, where a concession in terms was 

granted with the loan remaining in good standing, is $23,722,680 (2022 – $8,515,843).
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c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk the Credit Union will encounter difficulty to meet its obligations to members and 

other creditors. To mitigate this risk, the Credit Union is required to maintain, in the form of cash and 

liquidity reserves, a board policy set minimum liquidity at all times, based on total members’ deposits and 

demand loan. The Credit Union’s own risk management policies require it to maintain sufficient liquid 

resources to cover cash flow imbalances, to retain member confidence in the Credit Union and to enable 

the Credit Union to meet all financial obligations. This is achieved through maintaining a prudent level of 

liquid assets, through management control of the growth of the loan portfolio, sale of loan portfolios and 

asset-liability maturity management techniques. Management monitors projections of the Credit Union’s 

liquidity requirements on the basis of expected cash flows as part of its liquidity management. The Credit 

Union also maintains a borrowing facility with Central 1 of $58,860,000 (2022 – $58,610,000) as an 

integral part of its liquidity management strategy as disclosed in note 9.  

The remaining contractual maturity of recognized financial liabilities and loan commitments is as follows: 

Payable
on 

demand 
$

Less than 
1 year 

$

1 to 5 
years 

$

More than 
5 years 

$
Total 

$

Deposits of members 711,440 597,702 451,904 - 1,761,046
Accrued interest payable - 19,042 - - 19,042
Accounts payable and 

accrued charges - 7,524 - - 7,524
Lease liabilities - 1,055 5,619 13,966 20,640
Mortgage securitization 

liabilities - 4,569 72,320 - 76,889
Unadvanced loan 

commitments - 33,305 - - 33,305

711,440 663,197 529,843 13,966 1,918,446

d) Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk is not considered significant at this time as the Credit Union does not engage in any 

active trading of foreign currency positions or hold significant foreign currency denominated financial 

investments for an extended period. The nature of the foreign exchange risk at the Credit Union is that 

members can maintain US dollar deposit accounts and GICs for which the Credit Union will generally hold 

an equivalent amount of US dollar denominated assets in the form of cash and investments. The Board has 

established that the Credit Union must ensure that the difference between the US dollar denominated 

assets and liabilities must be less than 10%. The Credit Union has traditionally dealt with unwanted levels 

of foreign exchange risk by taking actions related to US dollar denominated assets and liabilities rather 

than entering into any foreign exchange derivative contracts. The impact of a 10.00% strengthening 

(weakening) of the Canadian dollar against the US dollar is considered insignificant. 
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e) Other price risk 

The Credit Union is also exposed to other price risk on certain of its investments and deposits, but given 

the limited amount of these deposits and investments, the price risk exposure is considered insignificant. 



READ MORE

We’re planning a number of exciting ways to commemorate 
this milestone with our members throughout 2024; 
beginning with our Annual General Meeting on April 16 and 
culminating at International Credit Union Day on October 17.

Follow us on social media as well as blog.kindredcu.com as 
we share stories and invitations.

We hope you will join us as we celebrate the past 60 years of 
banking with purpose and look forward to continuing to help 
you Make Peace with Your Money for years to come.

March 21ST, 2024 officially marks
Kindred’s 60TH Anniversary
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